

Decision No. R24-0900

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF COLORADO

PROCEEDING NO. 24R-0338T

IN THE MATTER OF THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 4 CODE OF COLORADO REGULATIONS 723-2 AMENDING THE COMMISSION RULES TO IMPLEMENT HOUSE BILLS (HB) 24-1234 AND 24-1336 AND SENATE BILL (SB) 24-139.

**RECOMMENDED DECISION ADOPTING RULES AND
CLOSING PROCEEDING**

Issued Date: December 10, 2024

I. STATEMENT

1. On August 14, 2024, by Decision No. C24-0576, the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (“Commission”) issued its Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (“NOPR”) to amend the Rules Regulating Telecommunications Services and Providers of Telecommunications Services contained in 4 *Code of Colorado Regulations* (“CCR”) 723-2, specifically Rules 2106, 2148, 2150, 2184, 2187, 2841, 2846, 2847, and 2850.¹

2. The NOPR proposed rule changes which were intended to codify various sections of state statute enacted through House Bills (“HB”) 24-1234 and 1336 as well as Senate Bill (“SB”) 24-139. Additionally, the proposed rule changes seek to update language in the Rules Regulating Telecommunications Services and Providers of Telecommunications Services regarding the methods by which telecommunications service providers can provide information to the Commission regarding their coverage areas. The NOPR established the deadlines of September 12, 2024, and September 19, 2024, for initial comments and response comments,

¹ The NOPR at ¶ 1 also referenced amendments to Rule 2842, however, the proposed amendments discussed within the NOPR, along with the proposed amendments shown in Attachments A and B do not reflect changes to this specific rule.

respectively, concerning the proposed rules, and scheduled a hearing for September 26, 2024, for oral comments regarding the proposed rules and referred this Proceeding to an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”). The proceeding was subsequently assigned to the undersigned ALJ. To the NOPR, the Commission attached the Rules in Legislative (*i.e.*, strikeout/underline) and clean formats.

3. On August 14, 2024, the Commission filed the confirmation page of its electronic filing of NOPR with the Office of Regulatory Reform for review and notice.

4. On August 14, 2024, the Commission filed the confirmation page of its electronic filing of the NOPR with the Secretary of State for publication of hearing.

5. No written comments have been filed in this Proceeding.

6. On September 26, 2024, at the noticed time and place, a public comment hearing was convened. No member of the public provided any oral comment.

7. Being fully advised in this matter and consistent with the discussion below, in accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned administrative law judge now transmits to the Commission the record in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. DISCUSSION

8. Pursuant to § 24-4-103, C.R.S., Commission staff engaged with stakeholders from the Commission’s 9-1-1 Advisory Task Force and the Colorado Broadband Office regarding the proposed rule changes.² Feedback was received from one member of the Commission’s 9-1-1-Advisory Task Force which was incorporated into the Commission’s proposed rules.³

9. No written or oral comments have been received in this Proceeding.

² See NOPR at ¶ 9.

³ *Id.*

A. Changes Intended to Implement HB 24-1234.

10. The proposed changes to Rule 2846, 4 CCR 723-2, are intended to mirror the reequipments mandated by the enactment of HB 24-1234. More specifically, the proposed rule changes are intended to delete the September 1, 2024 expiration date⁴ of the CHCSM and remove outdated annual benchmarks for the amount of CHCSM that must be allocated by the Commission to the broadband deployment account.

1. Rule 2846. Support through the HCSM.

11. The proposed changes to Rule 2846(b), 2846(b)(I), 2846(b)(II), and 2846(d), 4 CCR 723-2 eliminate outdated annual benchmarks for the amount of CHCSM that must be directed to the broadband deployment account, reflect that rural telecommunications providers that received support as of January 1, 2017, will continue to receive the same level of support on a quarterly basis in each subsequent year, 100 percent of the total amount of HCSM money collected⁵ will be allocated to the broadband deployment account, and delete the September 1, 2024 expiration date, consistent with, §§ 40-15-208(4) and 40-15-208(2)(a)(IV), C.R.S. The proposed amendments to Rule 2846(b)(III), 4 CCR 723-2 delete this subsection in its entirety to reflect the fact that 100 percent of funds remaining after CHCSM recipients receive their payments would be deposited into the broadband deployment account pursuant to §40-15-208(2)(a)(IV), C.R.S., leaving no funds to be distributed to non-rural incumbent local exchange carriers.

B. Changes Intended to Implement HB 24-1336.

12. The proposed changes to Rules 2841 and 2850, 4 CCR 723-2 are amended to reflect changes mandated by the enactment of HB 24-1336 which sunsets the Colorado Deployment

⁴ HB 24-1234 removed the previous September 1, 2024 expiration date of the Colorado High Cost Support Mechanism (“CHCSM”).

⁵ Minus the Commission’s administrative costs and distributions to rural telecommunications providers. Rule 2846(b)(II), 4 CCR 723-2.

Board (“board”) and moved all of Deployment Board’s responsibilities to the Colorado Broadband Office (“office”).

1. Rule 2841. Definitions.

13. The proposed changes to Rule 2841(c), 4 CCR 723-2, which defined the “broadband deployment board” delete this subsection in its entirety.

14. The proposed amendments add a new subsection (d), to Rule 2841, 4 CCR 723-2 to include a definition for the “Colorado Broadband Office”.

2. Rule 2850. Net Neutrality Violation.

15. The proposed amendments to Rule 2850, 4 CCR 723-2, substitute references to the “board” with references to the “office.”

C. Changes Intended to Implement SB 24-139.

16. The proposed amendments to Rules 2148 and 2150, 4 CCR 723-2 are intended to reflect changes mandated by the enactment of SB 24-139 which created a 9-1-1 Services Enterprise (“Enterprise”) and made the Commission responsible for collecting the 9-1-1 enterprise fee established by the Enterprise.

1. Rule 2148. Process for the Establishment of Annual Emergency Telephone Charge Threshold, State 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, Wireless Prepaid 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, and Associated Fund Distribution Schedules.

17. The proposed changes to subsections (II)(B), (II)(C) and (IV) OF Rule 2148, 4 CCR 723-2, are intended to: clarify that the 9-1-1 surcharge will be calculated to meet the needs of the governing bodies to pay for basic emergency service and provide emergency telephone service, consistent with § 29-11-104, C.R.S.; reflect that the 9-1-1 surcharge shall include the amount of the 9-1-1 enterprise fee imposed by the 9-1-1 Service Enterprise pursuant to § 29-11-108(8)(a),

C.R.S., and an amount necessary to reimburse the governing bodies; and reflect that 9-1-1 enterprise fee funds to be transmitted to the 9-1-1 enterprise services cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(10)(a), C.R.S. would be excluded from the distribution schedule for the funds raised by the state 9-1-1 surcharge for purposes of subsection (IV) of Rule 2148, 4 CCR 723-2.

2. Rule 2150. Administration of the 9-1-1 Surcharge Trust Cash Fund.

18. The proposed changes to subsections (f) and (g) of Rule 2150, 4 CCR 723-2 require the Commission to remit to the 9-1-1 services enterprise fund funds the Commission raised from the collection of the 9-1-1 services enterprise fees, and exclude funds raised by the Commission from the 9-1-1 services enterprise fees from being distributed to the local 9-1-1 governing bodies along with funds from the 9-1-1 surcharge.

D. Updates to Outdated and Incorrect Terminology.

19. The proposed changes to subsections (a)(II), (b)(II), and (d)(II) of Rules 2106, 2184, and 2187, 4 CCR 723-2, respectively, pertinently⁶ replace the outdated language of “metes and bounds” with the newer and more commonly accepted property boundary identification method, “GIS boundary file.” The proposed changes to Rule 2847, 4 CCR 723-2 replace the term “broadband deployment fund” with “broadband deployment account” for consistency with Rule 2841 which defines the term “broadband deployment account.”⁷

III. CONCLUSION

20. Attachment A to this Recommended Decision represents the amendments adopted by this Recommended Decision to Rules 2106, 2148, 2150, 2184, 2187, 2841, 2846, 2847, and

⁶ Other contextual, non-substantive changes are not discussed herein.

⁷ See Rule 2814(b), 4 CCR 723-2.

2850, 4 CCR 723-2, in legislative format (*i.e.*, strikeout/underline format, Attachment A to this Recommended Decision).

21. Attachment B to this Recommended Decision represents the amendments adopted by this Recommended Decision to Rules 2106, 2148, 2150, 2184, 2187, 2841, 2846, 2847, and 2850 in final/clean format.

22. Attachments A and B to this Recommended Decision are available through the Commission's E-Filings in this Proceeding (24R-0338T) at:

https://www.dora.state.co.us/pls/efi/EFI.Show_Docket?p_session_id=&p_docket_id=24R-0338T

23. It is found and concluded that the proposed rules as adopted by this Recommended Decision are consistent with the Commission's statutory authority, are reasonable, and should be adopted, as ordered below.

IV. RECOMMENDED DECISION

24. Pursuant to the provisions of § 40-6-109, C.R.S., it is recommended that the Commission adopt the attached rules.

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:

1. The Rules Regulating Telecommunications Services and Providers of Telecommunications Services in 4 *Code of Colorado Regulations* (the Rules), 4 *Code of Colorado Regulations* 723-2 attached to this Recommended Decision as Attachments A and B are adopted.

2. The Rules in legislative format (showing the edits to, additions to, and deletions from current rules) and in final/clean formats are attached to this Recommended Decision as Attachments A and B, respectively. Attachments A and B are also available in the Commission's E-Filings system at:

https://www.dora.state.co.us/pls/efi/EFI.Show_Docket?p_session_id=&p_docket_id=24R-0338T

3. Proceeding No. 24R-0338T is closed.

4. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.

5. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.

6. If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

7. If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S. If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts. This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

8. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.

(S E A L)



THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO

AVIV SEGEV

Administrative Law Judge

ATTEST: A TRUE COPY

A handwritten signature in cursive script that reads "Rebecca E. White".

Rebecca E. White,
Director

COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REGULATORY AGENCIES

Public Utilities Commission

4 CODE OF COLORADO REGULATIONS (CCR) 723-2

PART 2

RULES REGULATING TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES AND PROVIDERS OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

2106. Application to Change Exchange Area Boundaries.

This rule applies to ILECs that seek to change exchange area boundaries. An applicant shall submit the required information by filing an application with the Commission. If the exchange area boundary change affects more than one provider of telecommunications service, the affected providers shall file a joint application containing the information applicable to each provider.

- (a) The application shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description and a map or GIS boundary file of the specific boundaries ~~described by metes and bounds~~ that the applicant proposes to change;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2148. Process for the Establishment of Annual Emergency Telephone Charge Threshold, State 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, Wireless Prepaid 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, and Associated Fund Distribution Schedules.

- (a) On or before August 1 of each year, the Commission shall initiate a proceeding to be concluded on or before October 1 to establish the emergency telephone charge threshold, a statewide 9-1-1 surcharge, a wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge, a distribution schedule for the funds raised by the state 9-1-1 surcharge, and a distribution schedule for the funds raised by the wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge for the following calendar year.
 - (I) The emergency telephone charge threshold:
 - (A) shall take into account inflation through the consideration of historical data and future projections; and

- (B) shall take into account the needs of governing bodies through the consideration of historical data, inflation rates, the rate of increase of the average emergency telephone charge, comments provided under this rule, and other factors the Commission deems relevant.
- (II) The 9-1-1 surcharge:
 - (A) shall not exceed fifty cents per month per 9-1-1 access connection;
 - (B) shall be calculated to meet the needs of governing bodies to pay for basic emergency service and provide emergency telephone service ~~operate the 9-1-1 system~~ by considering historical data, costs to the 9-1-1 governing body of BES tariffs, comments provided under this rule, and other factors the Commission deems relevant;
 - (C) ~~shall include, including~~ without limitation, the amount of the 9-1-1 enterprise fee imposed by the 9-1-1 Service Enterprise pursuant to § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., and an amount necessary to reimburse the governing bodies for the most recently approved improvement amount as described in subparagraph 2137(e)(II); and
 - (~~DC~~) shall be uniform, regardless of the technology used to provide the 9-1-1 access connection.
- (III) The wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge shall be calculated by determining the average of all local emergency telephone charges as they existed on July 1 of that year plus the amount of the statewide 9-1-1 surcharge established by the Commission for the upcoming year.
- (IV) The distribution schedule for the funds raised by the state 9-1-1 surcharge, excluding the 9-1-1 enterprise fee funds to be transmitted to the 9-1-1 enterprise services cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(10)(a), C.R.S., shall be based on the number of concurrent sessions at all of the PSAPs associated with a governing body as a percentage of the total number of concurrent sessions statewide.
- (V) The distribution schedule for the funds raised by wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge shall be based on the wireless 9-1-1 call volume at all of the PSAPs associated with a governing body as a percentage of the total number of wireless 9-1-1 calls received by all PSAPs statewide.
- (b) The decision initiating this proceeding shall be accompanied by proposed amounts and distribution schedules as described in (a) (I) through (V) for comment.
- (c) The wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge rate and wireless prepaid 9-1-1 distribution schedule shall be transmitted to the Colorado Department of Revenue on or before October 1.
- (d) The new rates and distribution schedules established by this proceeding shall take effect on the following January 1.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2150. Administration of the 9-1-1 Surcharge Trust Cash Fund.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

~~(f) From the remittances of the 9-1-1 surcharges received by the Commission pursuant to this section, the portions comprised of the 9-1-1 enterprise fees as described in § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., shall be transmitted to the 9-1-1 services enterprise cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(10)(a), C.R.S.~~

(g) All remittances of 9-1-1 surcharges, ~~excluding the amounts from them as described in paragraph (f) and transmitted to the 9-1-1 enterprise service cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., received by the Commission pursuant to this section~~ shall be deposited in the 9-1-1 surcharge trust cash fund established pursuant to § 29-11-102.3(3)(c)(I), C.R.S.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2184. Application for Designation as an Additional Provider of Last Resort.

- (a) A provider of basic local exchange service seeking designation as an additional POLR shall file an application with the Commission requesting designation as such for a specific geographic area in which it receives HCSM.
- (b) The application shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description of the geographic area for which applicant seeks designation as a POLR including a description of such geographic area ~~by notes and bounds~~ and a map displaying the service area or GIS boundary file;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2187. Eligible Telecommunications Carrier Designation.

- (a) The Commission shall, upon application, designate a common carrier that meets the requirements of 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d) and § 54.202 and paragraph 2187(b) as an ETC for a service area designated by the Commission.

- (b) Upon request and consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity, the Commission may, in the case of an area served by a rural telecommunications provider, and shall, in the case of all other areas, designate more than one common carrier as an ETC for a service area designated by the Commission, so long as each additional requesting carrier meets the requirements of 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d) and § 54.202. Before designating an additional ETC for an area served by a rural telecommunications provider, the Commission shall find that the designation is in the public interest.
- (c) Pursuant to Subpart E of 47 C.F.R., Part 54, as of January 27, 2015, all ETCs shall make available Lifeline service, as defined in § 54.401, to qualifying low-income customers.
- (d) The application for designation as an ETC shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description of the service area for which the applicant seeks designation as an ETC. The application shall include either a description of such service area by zip codes, census blocks, coverage map, GIS boundary file, ~~metes and bounds~~ or the underlying carrier's exchange area map displaying the applicant's service area;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2841. Definitions.

The following definitions apply only in the context of rules 2840 through 2869:

- (a) "Administrator" means the Commission, or a designee employed by the Commission, pursuant to § 40-15-208(3), C.R.S., that performs the administrative functions of the HCSM under the direction of the Commission.
- (b) "Broadband deployment account" means the account held by the Commission for broadband deployment purposes consistent with § 24-37.5-905(2)(b)(I) ~~40-15-509.5(3)~~, C.R.S.
- ~~(c) "Broadband deployment board" or "board" means the board created by § 40-15-509.5(5)(a), C.R.S. for purposes of implementing and administering the deployment of broadband service in unserved areas in the state.~~
- ~~(cd)~~ "Broadband network" has the same meaning as set forth in § 40-15-102(3.7), C.R.S.
- ~~(d) "Colorado broadband office" or "office" means the entity created by § 24-37.5-903, C.R.S. for, among other purposes, administration of the broadband deployment grant program as described in § 24-37.5-905, C.R.S.~~

- (e) "Colorado High Cost Administration Fund" (Fund) means the fund created in the state treasury for the purpose of reimbursing the Commission acting as Administrator for its expenses incurred in the administration of the HCSM.
- (f) "Geographic area" means a Commission-defined area of land which can be smaller than an incumbent provider's wire center serving area included wholly within the incumbent's wire center boundaries.
- (g) "Geographic support area" means a geographic area where the Commission has determined that the furtherance of universal basic service requires that support be provided by the HCSM.
- (h) "High Cost Support Mechanism" (HCSM) means the mechanism created by Colorado statute for the support of universal service for basic local exchange service within a rural Colorado, high-cost geographic support area and provide access to broadband service in unserved areas pursuant to §§ 40-15-208 and ~~24-37.5-905-40-15-509.5~~, C.R.S.
- (i) "Intrastate proxy cost" means that portion of proxy cost that is jurisdictionally applicable to the provision of intrastate supported services. Pursuant to § 40-15-108, C.R.S., the intrastate proxy cost is produced by applying the separation factors of 47 C.F.R., Part 36, to the estimated investments and expenses produced by the Commission approved Proxy Cost Model.
- (j) "Proxy cost" means a per access line estimate of the cost required to compensate a provider for the provisioning of specific supported services and features based upon the level of investment calculated by the Commission-approved Proxy Cost Model.
- (k) "Proxy cost model" means a model which produces a per access line estimate of the reasonable, required level of investment and expenses in a particular geographic area (i.e., wire center basis) for a defined set of telephone services and features assuming least-cost efficient engineering and design criteria and technology-neutral deployment of current state-of-the-art technology, and using the current local exchange network topology and the total number of access lines in each area.
- (l) "Retail revenues" means the gross revenues associated with contribution levels to the HCSM from the sale of intrastate telecommunications pre-paid and post-paid services to end-use customers. Intrastate telecommunications services may include, but are not limited to, all types of local exchange service; non-basic, vertical, or discretionary services, also known as advanced features, such as call waiting, call forwarding, and caller identification, or premium services such as voicemail; listing services; directory assistance service; wireless and other cellular telephone and paging services; mobile radio services; personal communications services (PCS); both optional and non-optional operator services; wide area telecommunications services (WATS) and WATS-like services; toll free service; 900 service and other informational services; toll service; private line service; special access service; special arrangements; special assemblies; CENTREX, Centron, and Centron-like services; ISDN, IAD and other multi-line services; video and/or teleconferencing services; satellite telecommunications service; the resale of intrastate telecommunications services; payphone services; any services regulated by the Commission under § 40-15-305(2), C.R.S.; and such other services as the Commission may by order designate from time to time as equivalent or similar to the services listed above. Revenues associated with the sale of video services other than video conferencing identified in § 40-15-

401(1)(a), C.R.S., shall not be considered a part of retail revenues associated with contribution levels.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2846. Support through the HCSM.

- (a) The Commission shall, by order, establish geographic areas throughout the state. Such geographic areas may be revised at the discretion of the Commission.
- (b) ~~Through December 31, 2018,~~ HCSM support amounts shall be provided consistent with prior Commission orders. ~~Beginning on January 1, 2019, s~~Support shall be allocated and provided on a quarterly basis and by the end of the month following the previous quarter.
 - (I) Each rural telecommunications provider, both wireline and wireless, that received support as of January 1, 2017, will continue to receive the same level of support on a quarterly basis ~~for the period of January 1, 2019 in each subsequent year through September 1, 2024~~ by averaging the payments received for calendar years 2015 and 2016, consistent with § 40-15-208(4), C.R.S.
 - (II) The Commission shall allocate to the broadband deployment account ~~the following percentages 100 percent~~ of the total amount of HCSM money collected minus the Commission's administrative costs and distributions to rural telecommunications providers, both wireline and wireless, consistent with § 40-15-208(2)(a)(IV), C.R.S. and subparagraph 2846(b)(I).
 - ~~(A) in 2019 60 percent;~~
 - ~~(B) in 2020 70 percent;~~
 - ~~(C) in 2021 80 percent;~~
 - ~~(D) in 2022 90 percent;~~
 - ~~(E) in 2023 100 percent; and~~
 - ~~(F) in 2024 100 percent (through September 1, 2024).~~
 - ~~(III) The non-rural incumbent local exchange carrier will receive the balance of the remaining quarterly collections after distributions required by § 40-15-208(2)(a)(IV) and (4), C.R.S.~~
- (c) The Administrator will arrange payments to be made within 30 days of the last day of each quarter.
- (d) ~~For years 2019 through 2024, d~~Distributions of HCSM shall not be based on effective competition determinations as defined by rule 2205 or § 40-15-207, C.R.S.

2847. Administration.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

- (k) A written annual report of the HCSM, prepared by the Administrator, shall be submitted to the committees of reference in the Senate and House of Representatives that are assigned to hear telecommunications issues, in accordance with § 24-1-136, C.R.S., by December 1 of each year. A copy of the Administrator's annual report of the HCSM shall be provided to the Legislative Audit Committee and posted on the Commission's website. The report shall account for the operation of the HCSM during the preceding calendar year and include the following information, at a minimum:
- (I) the total amount of money the Commission collected through a rate element assessment collected by each provider for which distributions were made;
 - (II) the total amount of money distributed to each provider and to the broadband deployment ~~account fund~~ from the HCSM;
 - (III) the basis on which the distribution to providers was calculated;
 - (IV) as to each provider receiving a distribution, the amount received by geographic support area and the type of customer, the way in which the benefit of the distribution was applied or accounted for; and
 - (V) the estimated contributions to be collected through a rate element assessment by each telecommunications provider, and the proposed total amount of the HCSM from which distributions are to be made for the following calendar year.

2850. Net Neutrality Violation.

- (a) The ~~Colorado broadband office broadband deployment board (board)~~ shall file a petition pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure 4 CCR 723-1-1304(i) requesting that the Commission initiate a proceeding and issue a written order pursuant to §§ 40-15-209(2)(a) and ~~24-37.5-905-40-15-509.5~~, C.R.S., and notifying the Commission that the ~~office board~~ has determined that:
- (I) a federal agency has issued a final order or entered into a settlement or consent decree regarding, or a court of competent jurisdiction has issued a final judgment against, an internet service provider;
 - (II) the order, settlement consent decree or judgment concludes that the internet service provider has engaged in a net neutrality violation specified in § 40-15-209 (1)(a) through (d), C.R.S.;
 - (III) the internet service provider is not otherwise exempt according to §40-15-209 (3), C.R.S.; and

- (IV) the internet service provider should be required to fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the twenty-four months preceding the officeboard's determination from the high cost support mechanism pursuant to a grant awarded by the office board under § 24-37.5-905-40-15-509.5, C.R.S.
- (b) A petition filed by the office board pursuant to this rule must include at least the following information:
 - (I) federal agency final order, settlement and consent decree or final judgment from a court of competent jurisdiction and any supporting documentation used by the office board to determine the net neutrality violation;
 - (II) documentation of the final determination by the office board that the final order, decree, or judgment that the internet service provider engaged in conduct specified in § 40-15-209(1)(a) through (d);
 - (III) affirmation supported by an affidavit or in the final office board determination attesting that the office board determined exceptions specified in § 40-15-209(3) are inapplicable;
 - (IV) certification of the effective date for the office's board's final determination;
 - (V) itemized grant award amounts paid to the internet service provider for the 24 months preceding the office's board's final determination and documentation demonstrating that the payments were made to the internet service provider; and
 - (VI) any additional information the office board finds relevant.
- (c) The office board shall be a necessary party in any proceeding confirming that the office board made a decision pursuant to § 40-15-209(2)(a), C.R.S., and that it determined no exceptions apply to the violating activity, and requesting that the Commission fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the 24 months preceding the office's board's determination.
- (d) Through proceedings under this rule, the Commission shall confirm that the office board made determinations set forth in paragraph (a) of this rule. Upon such confirmation, the Commission shall issue a written order directing the internet service provider to fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the 24 months preceding the office's board's determination from the HCSM pursuant to a grant awarded by the office board under § 24-37.5-905-40-15-509.5, C.R.S.
- (e) Any final Commission decision under this rule 2850 shall:
 - (I) include an itemized statement of the amount of money that the internet service provider is required to refund and instructions on how to refund the money; and
 - (II) instruct the HCSM administrator and the third party contractor to return the money to the HCSM account dedicated to broadband deployment.
- (f) An internet service provider required to refund HCSM funding caused by a net neutrality violation pursuant to § 40-15-209, C.R.S. is not relieved of any provider-of-last resort obligations.

COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REGULATORY AGENCIES

Public Utilities Commission

4 CODE OF COLORADO REGULATIONS (CCR) 723-2

PART 2

RULES REGULATING TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES AND PROVIDERS OF TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

2106. Application to Change Exchange Area Boundaries.

This rule applies to ILECs that seek to change exchange area boundaries. An applicant shall submit the required information by filing an application with the Commission. If the exchange area boundary change affects more than one provider of telecommunications service, the affected providers shall file a joint application containing the information applicable to each provider.

- (a) The application shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description and a map or GIS boundary file of the specific boundaries that the applicant proposes to change;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2148. Process for the Establishment of Annual Emergency Telephone Charge Threshold, State 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, Wireless Prepaid 9-1-1 Surcharge Rate, and Associated Fund Distribution Schedules.

- (a) On or before August 1 of each year, the Commission shall initiate a proceeding to be concluded on or before October 1 to establish the emergency telephone charge threshold, a statewide 9-1-1 surcharge, a wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge, a distribution schedule for the funds raised by the state 9-1-1 surcharge, and a distribution schedule for the funds raised by the wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge for the following calendar year.
 - (I) The emergency telephone charge threshold:
 - (A) shall take into account inflation through the consideration of historical data and future projections; and

- (B) shall take into account the needs of governing bodies through the consideration of historical data, inflation rates, the rate of increase of the average emergency telephone charge, comments provided under this rule, and other factors the Commission deems relevant.
- (II) The 9-1-1 surcharge:
 - (A) shall not exceed fifty cents per month per 9-1-1 access connection;
 - (B) shall be calculated to meet the needs of governing bodies to pay for basic emergency service and provide emergency telephone service by considering historical data, costs to the 9-1-1 governing body of BES tariffs, comments provided under this rule, and other factors the Commission deems relevant;
 - (C) shall include, without limitation, the amount of the 9-1-1 enterprise fee imposed by the 9-1-1 Service Enterprise pursuant to § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., and an amount necessary to reimburse the governing bodies for the most recently approved improvement amount as described in subparagraph 2137(e)(II); and
 - (D) shall be uniform, regardless of the technology used to provide the 9-1-1 access connection.
- (III) The wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge shall be calculated by determining the average of all local emergency telephone charges as they existed on July 1 of that year plus the amount of the statewide 9-1-1 surcharge established by the Commission for the upcoming year.
- (IV) The distribution schedule for the funds raised by the state 9-1-1 surcharge, excluding the 9-1-1 enterprise fee funds to be transmitted to the 9-1-1 enterprise services cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(10)(a), C.R.S., shall be based on the number of concurrent sessions at all of the PSAPs associated with a governing body as a percentage of the total number of concurrent sessions statewide.
- (V) The distribution schedule for the funds raised by wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge shall be based on the wireless 9-1-1 call volume at all of the PSAPs associated with a governing body as a percentage of the total number of wireless 9-1-1 calls received by all PSAPs statewide.
- (b) The decision initiating this proceeding shall be accompanied by proposed amounts and distribution schedules as described in (a) (I) through (V) for comment.
- (c) The wireless prepaid 9-1-1 charge rate and wireless prepaid 9-1-1 distribution schedule shall be transmitted to the Colorado Department of Revenue on or before October 1.
- (d) The new rates and distribution schedules established by this proceeding shall take effect on the following January 1.

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2150. Administration of the 9-1-1 Surcharge Trust Cash Fund.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

- (f) From the remittances of the 9-1-1 surcharges received by the Commission pursuant to this section, the portions comprised of the 9-1-1 enterprise fees as described in § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., shall be transmitted to the 9-1-1 services enterprise cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(10)(a), C.R.S.
- (g) All remittances of 9-1-1 surcharges, excluding the amounts from them as described in paragraph (f) and transmitted to the 9-1-1 enterprise service cash fund created pursuant to § 29-11-108(8)(a), C.R.S., shall be deposited in the 9-1-1 surcharge trust cash fund established pursuant to § 29-11-102.3(3)(c)(I), C.R.S.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2184. Application for Designation as an Additional Provider of Last Resort.

- (a) A provider of basic local exchange service seeking designation as an additional POLR shall file an application with the Commission requesting designation as such for a specific geographic area in which it receives HCSM.
- (b) The application shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description of the geographic area for which applicant seeks designation as a POLR including a description of such geographic area and a map displaying the service area or GIS boundary file;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2187. Eligible Telecommunications Carrier Designation.

- (a) The Commission shall, upon application, designate a common carrier that meets the requirements of 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d) and § 54.202 and paragraph 2187(b) as an ETC for a service area designated by the Commission.
- (b) Upon request and consistent with the public interest, convenience, and necessity, the Commission may, in the case of an area served by a rural telecommunications provider, and

shall, in the case of all other areas, designate more than one common carrier as an ETC for a service area designated by the Commission, so long as each additional requesting carrier meets the requirements of 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d) and § 54.202. Before designating an additional ETC for an area served by a rural telecommunications provider, the Commission shall find that the designation is in the public interest.

- (c) Pursuant to Subpart E of 47 C.F.R., Part 54, as of January 27, 2015, all ETCs shall make available Lifeline service, as defined in § 54.401, to qualifying low-income customers.
- (d) The application for designation as an ETC shall include, in the following order and specifically identified, the following information, either in the application or in appropriately identified attachments:
 - (I) the information required by paragraph 2002(b);
 - (II) a description of the service area for which the applicant seeks designation as an ETC. The application shall include either a description of such service area by zip codes, census blocks, coverage map, GIS boundary file, or the underlying carrier's exchange area map displaying the applicant's service area;

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2841. Definitions.

The following definitions apply only in the context of rules 2840 through 2869:

- (a) "Administrator" means the Commission, or a designee employed by the Commission, pursuant to § 40-15-208(3), C.R.S., that performs the administrative functions of the HCSM under the direction of the Commission.
- (b) "Broadband deployment account" means the account held by the Commission for broadband deployment purposes consistent with § 24-37.5-905(2)(b)(I), C.R.S.
- (c) "Broadband network" has the same meaning as set forth in § 40-15-102(3.7), C.R.S.
- (d) "Colorado broadband office" or "office" means the entity created by § 24-37.5-903, C.R.S. for, among other purposes, administration of the broadband deployment grant program as described in § 24-37.5-905, C.R.S.
- (e) "Colorado High Cost Administration Fund" (Fund) means the fund created in the state treasury for the purpose of reimbursing the Commission acting as Administrator for its expenses incurred in the administration of the HCSM.
- (f) "Geographic area" means a Commission-defined area of land which can be smaller than an incumbent provider's wire center serving area included wholly within the incumbent's wire center boundaries.

- (g) "Geographic support area" means a geographic area where the Commission has determined that the furtherance of universal basic service requires that support be provided by the HCSCM.
- (h) "High Cost Support Mechanism" (HCSCM) means the mechanism created by Colorado statute for the support of universal service for basic local exchange service within a rural Colorado, high-cost geographic support area and provide access to broadband service in unserved areas pursuant to §§ 40-15-208 and 24-37.5-905, C.R.S.
- (i) "Intrastate proxy cost" means that portion of proxy cost that is jurisdictionally applicable to the provision of intrastate supported services. Pursuant to § 40-15-108, C.R.S., the intrastate proxy cost is produced by applying the separation factors of 47 C.F.R., Part 36, to the estimated investments and expenses produced by the Commission approved Proxy Cost Model.
- (j) "Proxy cost" means a per access line estimate of the cost required to compensate a provider for the provisioning of specific supported services and features based upon the level of investment calculated by the Commission-approved Proxy Cost Model.
- (k) "Proxy cost model" means a model which produces a per access line estimate of the reasonable, required level of investment and expenses in a particular geographic area (i.e., wire center basis) for a defined set of telephone services and features assuming least-cost efficient engineering and design criteria and technology-neutral deployment of current state-of-the-art technology, and using the current local exchange network topology and the total number of access lines in each area.
- (l) "Retail revenues" means the gross revenues associated with contribution levels to the HCSCM from the sale of intrastate telecommunications pre-paid and post-paid services to end-use customers. Intrastate telecommunications services may include, but are not limited to, all types of local exchange service; non-basic, vertical, or discretionary services, also known as advanced features, such as call waiting, call forwarding, and caller identification, or premium services such as voicemail; listing services; directory assistance service; wireless and other cellular telephone and paging services; mobile radio services; personal communications services (PCS); both optional and non-optional operator services; wide area telecommunications services (WATS) and WATS-like services; toll free service; 900 service and other informational services; toll service; private line service; special access service; special arrangements; special assemblies; CENTREX, Centron, and Centron-like services; ISDN, IAD and other multi-line services; video and/or teleconferencing services; satellite telecommunications service; the resale of intrastate telecommunications services; payphone services; any services regulated by the Commission under § 40-15-305(2), C.R.S.; and such other services as the Commission may by order designate from time to time as equivalent or similar to the services listed above. Revenues associated with the sale of video services other than video conferencing identified in § 40-15-401(1)(a), C.R.S., shall not be considered a part of retail revenues associated with contribution levels.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

2846. Support through the HCSM.

- (a) The Commission shall, by order, establish geographic areas throughout the state. Such geographic areas may be revised at the discretion of the Commission.
- (b) HCSM support amounts shall be provided consistent with prior Commission orders. Support shall be allocated and provided on a quarterly basis and by the end of the month following the previous quarter.
 - (I) Each rural telecommunications provider, both wireline and wireless, that received support as of January 1, 2017, will continue to receive the same level of support on a quarterly basis in each subsequent year by averaging the payments received for calendar years 2015 and 2016, consistent with § 40-15-208(4), C.R.S.
 - (II) The Commission shall allocate to the broadband deployment account 100 percent of the total amount of HCSM money collected minus the Commission's administrative costs and distributions to rural telecommunications providers, both wireline and wireless, consistent with § 40-15-208(2)(a)(IV), C.R.S. and subparagraph 2846(b)(I).
- (c) The Administrator will arrange payments to be made within 30 days of the last day of each quarter.
- (d) Distributions of HCSM shall not be based on effective competition determinations as defined by rule 2205 or § 40-15-207, C.R.S.

2847. Administration.

* * * *

[indicates omission of unaffected rules]

- (k) A written annual report of the HCSM, prepared by the Administrator, shall be submitted to the committees of reference in the Senate and House of Representatives that are assigned to hear telecommunications issues, in accordance with § 24-1-136, C.R.S., by December 1 of each year. A copy of the Administrator's annual report of the HCSM shall be provided to the Legislative Audit Committee and posted on the Commission's website. The report shall account for the operation of the HCSM during the preceding calendar year and include the following information, at a minimum:
 - (I) the total amount of money the Commission collected through a rate element assessment collected by each provider for which distributions were made;
 - (II) the total amount of money distributed to each provider and to the broadband deployment account from the HCSM;
 - (III) the basis on which the distribution to providers was calculated;

- (IV) as to each provider receiving a distribution, the amount received by geographic support area and the type of customer, the way in which the benefit of the distribution was applied or accounted for; and
- (V) the estimated contributions to be collected through a rate element assessment by each telecommunications provider, and the proposed total amount of the HCSCM from which distributions are to be made for the following calendar year.

2850. Net Neutrality Violation.

- (a) The Colorado broadband office shall file a petition pursuant to the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure 4 CCR 723-1-1304(i) requesting that the Commission initiate a proceeding and issue a written order pursuant to §§ 40-15-209(2)(a) and 24-37.5-905, C.R.S., and notifying the Commission that the office has determined that:
 - (I) a federal agency has issued a final order or entered into a settlement or consent decree regarding, or a court of competent jurisdiction has issued a final judgment against, an internet service provider;
 - (II) the order, settlement consent decree or judgment concludes that the internet service provider has engaged in a net neutrality violation specified in § 40-15-209 (1)(a) through (d), C.R.S.;
 - (III) the internet service provider is not otherwise exempt according to §40-15-209 (3), C.R.S.; and
 - (IV) the internet service provider should be required to fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the twenty-four months preceding the office's determination from the high cost support mechanism pursuant to a grant awarded by the office under § 24-37.5-905, C.R.S.
- (b) A petition filed by the office pursuant to this rule must include at least the following information:
 - (I) federal agency final order, settlement and consent decree or final judgment from a court of competent jurisdiction and any supporting documentation used by the office to determine the net neutrality violation;
 - (II) documentation of the final determination by the office that the final order, decree, or judgment that the internet service provider engaged in conduct specified in § 40-15-209(1)(a) through (d);
 - (III) affirmation supported by an affidavit or in the final office determination attesting that the office determined exceptions specified in § 40-15-209(3) are inapplicable;
 - (IV) certification of the effective date for the office's final determination;
 - (V) itemized grant award amounts paid to the internet service provider for the 24 months preceding the office's final determination and documentation demonstrating that the payments were made to the internet service provider; and

- (VI) any additional information the office finds relevant.
- (c) The office shall be a necessary party in any proceeding confirming that the office made a decision pursuant to § 40-15-209(2)(a), C.R.S., and that it determined no exceptions apply to the violating activity, and requesting that the Commission fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the 24 months preceding the office's determination.
- (d) Through proceedings under this rule, the Commission shall confirm that the office made determinations set forth in paragraph (a) of this rule. Upon such confirmation, the Commission shall issue a written order directing the internet service provider to fully refund any money that the internet service provider received in the 24 months preceding the office's determination from the HCSM pursuant to a grant awarded by the office under § 24-37.5-905, C.R.S.
- (e) Any final Commission decision under this rule 2850 shall:
 - (I) include an itemized statement of the amount of money that the internet service provider is required to refund and instructions on how to refund the money; and
 - (II) instruct the HCSM administrator and the third party contractor to return the money to the HCSM account dedicated to broadband deployment.
- (f) An internet service provider required to refund HCSM funding caused by a net neutrality violation pursuant to § 40-15-209, C.R.S. is not relieved of any provider-of-last resort obligations.